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Women, Law, and the Pursuit of Happiness
in Early Harford County

by
Jeffrey K. Sawyer

Introduction

Martha Griffith filed suit in 1794 against the executors of her late
husband’s estate.  His will had left her a large, waterfront plantation on
Swan Creek for the remainder of her life, but she wanted more. The suit
demanded a large share of the family’s working capital, specifically, live-
stock, supplies, farm equipment, and the slave labor force that made plan-
tations prosperous in those times. The people and property involved in
this case were for the most part members of a closely knit Harford County
corrmunity, but the legal baftle and its outcome had some larger implica-
tions,

The decision in Griffith v Griffith’s Execufors, rendered by the
General Court and affirmed by the Court of Appeals, constitutes a signifi-
cant piece of the legal history of early America.' First, it re-established the
undisputed rights of Maryland widows to a share of both the real and per-
sonal property of their deceased husbands. Second, it forced leading judges
and lawyers in Maryland to undertake a deep historical and logical analy-
sis of the authority of British legal precedents. What law would apply in
cases where post-Revolutionary Marvland legislation was unclear? Third,
the judgment silently affirmed that slaves in Maryland fell under the
regime of personal property with respect to inheritance *

The events surrounding the suit are particularly revealing of how
lawe fn action altected women with respect to inheritance and property.
Despite many inequalities that affected women under the old common law
in early Maryland, women had a clear legal right to cwn property and to

it w Griffeh's Preculon, [Marviend Reporis] 3 L & Mo 107 (1798,

* Upon the death of 2 Marvlend plantstun owuen, shaes often made ap a large share of $he
persannt weaalth in the estale’s inveniory. Although shivves were ety of issue Inthe Crfith case, they are
nat inentioned in the published versions of the Ceneral Cowr?’s eg:%n%ez;. Helore 164 Alncan-Amencans
feld g slaves 1 this slate were, Jogally sprakeny, both “persons™ seed the “parsenal property” of ther
masters. The 1800 L5 Consus enumerates 4176 persors held ae slives iving m Harterd County and
perhaps another 1880 free Afrkean-Amencans. The 4138 slaves Sl under many of the coremon law rules
respecting “goods and cheltels” (thecommon Inw designation of presonai }?mperrv‘n. Slavery was abolished
in Marviand during the {Cival War by the State Constitaion of 1804 and then of course made illegal in all of
the United States by the rotifiration of the Thireenth Amendment @ the Constitution on Decernher 18,
B85
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use the courts of law to secure their rights. A widow’s right to a reasonable
share of her husband’s property extended back into Anglo-Saxon nme-,,
and was one of the guarantees written into the Magna Charta. “"Dower”

the old common law name for a widow’s share. Customarily dower con-
sisted] of the use of and profit from one third of the deceased husband's real
estate for the widow’s lifetime, and one third of his personal estate after his
debis were paid. But dower could also be fixed by a formal agreement.

Dower rights came under attack in the later seventeenth and eigh-
teenth centuries in England, but by that time they had already been estab-
lished in many of the English colonies.” For this reason, the property rights
of the daughters and widows of wealthy men were among the rights of
women most securely protected before the advent of married women's
property acts in the mid-nineteenth century” Such rights, however, were
neither altogether settled, nor as empowering as one might at first imagine.
The laws controlling inheritances were intricate, ardd often pitted family
members against each other— males against females, sons and daughters
against their parents, brothers and sisters against each other.

In an age when hnancial security could rarely be atlained through
hard work alone, inheritance of land and capital was a key factor in the life
chances ot an individual. This was perhaps even more true for women
because of the limited opportunities for female employinent. These cir-
cumstances oftert placed widows in the anomalous position of controlling
family assets by chance. Yet at the same tme, widow's legal rights to prop-
erty were integral 1o the economic and social scheme of early America, par-
ticularly in the Chesapeake region® Marvland widows in the age of the
Revolution, that is, af the end of the eighteenth century, were comparative-
Iy well treated compared, that is, to the treatment of their mothers or
grandmothers, or similarly situated women in England or New England.

7R widow shall have her marriage poron and whertance immediafely alter fie death of her s
Gangd sead without ddfionity: por slhali she g vibeng for her dowiy or for her marriage porbion of tur het
mEtczv“mm which inbentanon she and hor husbang were Tokding urd the day of that hushand's death And atter
His death she shall remmaina the prinaipal dweling of Bior husband for forty davs, within which her dowry shall
be assigned fober, Ggless 12 hes boen assigoed o her earber, ot unduess that ot s a castle, A if she lerves
e @ she shall at e be prroy qrded with a sutahle house, inowhich shy Fnay honorably dwell untither dowry
15 assined W her as sforesnd And 1 the meantime she shatl have fer rensomable sstrerers 6f common [share
01 the produce] Momeover, she shall be assigned as dowry ane-thivd of afl the lend held by her hesband daving
Fis Tfetime, undess she was vocowed with loge at the chaich daﬂt Second Revssue of Magss Chana (12285 in
Carl Swephenson and Frederick Guorge Marcham, eds. Saisvees of ){\;;;-ﬁ Censddntnynd Mrtory, 2 vols, (Mhew Yok
Harper ind Row, 197211 117,

* Richard H. Chused, "Marned Women's Property Law 180618557 Seorgelomm {awe Journod 515
{193 13- 1425,

3

1y, Wowen aud the Lut of Prajydy s Farke Amence {Chape] TE Umversity of

i et B A o B Amerioan Beoolniion, Ed Ronald Hotfman ared Peter & Albert (United States
Capito! Higtorical Soowty, Unuy. Press of Vingmia, Charlotesy ], 19BYL sev coaproally, Carr sl s Rar 1556
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One reason for this was almost certainly the strength of the legal right to
dower.

Locally in Harford County, the most famous woman of wealth in
the Revolutionary War era was Sophia (White) Hall. At one point she held
an estate of several thousands of acres of prime Harford County Jand, part
of which became renowned as “Sophia’s Dairy.” Sophia was the daughter
of Col. Thomas White a mid-cighteenth century surveyor, authority on
titles, and big-time land speculator” Sophia’s mother, Sophia (Hally White,
was a wealthy wormnan in her own right through her father, Capt. John Hall,
who gave her 813 acres as a marriage gift.” Sophia {the daughter) married
her cousin Aquila Hall, and the couple built the beauiiful two-and-a-half
story brick mansion on the Bush River that remains one of Harford
County’s architectural treasures.” (It now overlooks the old Beta shoe man-
ufacturing complex on US Route 40,3 Even after Aquila died, and much
of the family’s land was distributed to the next generation, her wealth
remained formidable, Few if any women of the time rivaled Sophia in land
haldings, but other women headed households and were listed as tax pay-
ers in the County according to the official assessments of 1783 and later.

5ix women appear prominently in the family inheritance drama
unfolded below. In addition to the widow Martha Griffith who filed the
law suit at the core of our story, there were four other heiresses. Three were
Martha's step-daughters; the fourth was a sister-in-law of the deceased also
made one of the guardians over the children. Eventually the widow of the
prmmpa heir came into the picture. The two unmarried daughters may

have had a special need for the assets that would bring them the financial
security, dignity, and happiness they sought in life. But their step-mother
challenged part of their claims under the provisions of their father’s will.

Later one of Martha Griffith’s step daughters, Martha (Griffith)
Smith {later Jay), twice came into possession of large estates as a widow,
first, of Colonel Alexander Lawson Smith in January 1802 and second, of

? 4 Midon Wright, 3ur Hacdead Hevnage, rev, ed. (French-Brav Clon Busmae, Md., 1980y, 530631,

* Robert Barpes, ed, Bolasae Cmeciv, Marvland: Dead Absleacls 16591750 tWesiminsdor, Md :
Family §ire Publ, T8, 14693,

" Christopher Weeke, An Ay
fehns Flopkins Lnoversidy Press, 1%a)
smod i the Maegland Tex Last, 7735 Huek
arnd thesnt alphabetical For each disbrct or

stzersl Hedpry of Hirtord oty Mavdapd (Balimore and | onden
Lel ‘wmh\ V"5 Ina8sine wralth in 2 widow i 1783 o deme
Cmpny, {thiadc«lm}*m Whistore Tede, J¥701 Hisbinggs ate by county
mebred 3
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Samuel Jay of Havre de Grace in 1818." An enterprising woman, she
actively managed considerable assets for her children and herself and pur-
chased a farm during her first widowhood which has remained in the fam-
ily ever since.

Figure 1. Martha Griffith (Smith Jay), the eldest daughter and one of the heirs of
Samuel Griffith whose last will and testament sparked the law suit explored in this arti-
cle. Silhouette from life; courtesy, private collection. Reprographics by Nan Jay
Barchowsky.

"Martha was appointed administratrix of the estates as well as guardian of the children both times.
There were three young Smith children in 1802 (a boy and two girls), and Martha managed their share of the
estate until they came of age, frequently filing annual guardian’s accounts for each; see inventory for Smith filed
Feb. 8, 1802, Reg. Wills, Harf. Co., Maryland Hall of Records (hereinafter “MHR"), Microfilmed Record (here-
inafter “Mflm.”), WK 833: 219, 223-225 and, guardian account for the Smith children, Reg. Wills, Harf, Co.,
Guardian Accounts, MR, Mflm., WK 837: 42ff. Martha was later appointed guardian over 20 month old John
Jay on Oct. 20, 1818; Reg. Wills, Harf. Co., Orphan’s Court Proceedings, MHR, Mflm., CR 422-2 (Lib. A. J. 2): 402.
The administration of the Jay estate was particularly complex and required several filings; on May 2, 1820 she
had $17,597.29 1/2 worth of personal estate “in hand”; Reg. Wills, Har!f. Co., Inventories, MHR, Mflm., WK 834-
835-2: 170-171.


http:17,597.29
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The events recounted below tell, in part, a cliched family story of
struggle for control of family wealth. Beyond that, however, the story
reveals how central the laws of property and inheritance were o the social
structure and economic life of a place like Harford County in the pre-indus-
trial age. This family’s efforts to manage its property over the course of a
generation also illustrates how the legal regime of property shaped an indi-
vidual's pursuit of happiness two hundred years ago.

Who were the Griffiths?

Martha Hall married S8amue! Griffith on November 17, 17787 It
was the second marriage for both, and both were from wealthy, well estab-
Lished families in the region. Samuel’s father (also named Samuel) had
owned property near Romney Creek as early as 1738, and Samuel’s broth-
er, Luke, also farmed a plantation in the Spesutia region. Ancther relative,
Dr. Samuel Griffith, owned a large tract of land nearby. Martha was the
eldest daughter of Captain Jonathan Hall "of Cranberry,” a leading
Harford County citizen. “Cranberry Hail” had descended from an early
{1694) patent for 1,547 acres to a member of the Hall family,” and it
remained a very large estate at the time of the Revolution. When it
descended to Martha's brothers {she had three brothers and four sisters) it
was still an immense, unwieldy tract straddling the “Great Road leading
from Bush Town te Susquehanng lower Ferry”, a road later known as the
Post Road between Baltimore and Philadelphia and now (roughly) Route 7
around Aberdeen.” In the hall itself (which remains standing to this day),
Martha grew up in elegant surroundings by the standards of the times.
The inventory of her father’s estate referred to fine furnishings, fancy
punch bowls, a backgammon set, precious tobacco boxes, seven expensive
bed sets, and supplies for a shoe manufacturing operation, among many
other things.” Qut of this family estate Martha received a significant
bequest upon leaving home for her first marriage to William Robinson
Presbury, son of another prominent family in the region.”

Nnfermation bom several peimary soumes contalineg weformaton about Ui fanilies s usefully

bmugh rogether i Hemy 1 Feden, I, Emfe Haoviord Cunntiars tlﬁg»ﬁmm{er Vi Famxlv Line Pub, 1995, 170-
172 Records of Fets, deaths and *na?'%&gca were kept by the 5L b?(‘xgem z)zrl‘ah afficials of the Thareh of
England {later the Eguscopal Church) whene dhe Laiffiths snd many of their aeighbors wern parsiioners. Ses 5
Gearge’s Pavish Registers, 1881733, ed. Bill & Murihe Reamy, {Silver Spnmg, dck: Family Bine Fub, 1588

= Wright, sipran 7 alb 21,

T will of Johr Hall of Cranberry, daned Sept. 14,1779, Reg Wills, Har?. Co, Wills, MHR, Milm., CR
427523 (Al ) 267279 There were several branches of e Hall lamily bving w Harford and Bl
Countie [onathan Hall of Cranberey s will makes clear st be and Soohia (White) Half 1of Sephia’s Dary]
ware grandeinldren of the seow John Fall, & reajor landhotder earkier in the century w ks of Baltimore Couaty
that begame Harford County.

Hinventory Eor Joln Hall of Cranbercy, filed Fub 7, 1770, Reg. Wills, Harf. Co.. Teventories, MHR,
M., WK 8328331

P The marrigge gift is noted woher sather’s will, sipran 13,
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When Martha married Samuel Griffith after Presbury’s death they
were both middle aged, he 40 and she 32. The two must have been social-
ly acquainted for a long time. They had grown up in the same commumni-
ty and married their first spouses within a few weeks of each other in St.
George’s parish church (in 1764). Both Martha and Samuel had four sur-
viving children by their prior marriages. Four of Samuel’s children by
Freenettah Garrettson were still at home—Martha, Frances, Sarah, and
Samue! Goldsmith Griftith (ages seven, five, three, and one}—at the time
their step-mother came into the household." Some of Martha's children by
Presbury probably also resided in the Gritfith household for a while.”
Soon Martha gave birth to another daughter who died voung.™ Over the
next several years Samuel and Martha then had four sons—John Hall,
Edward, Luke, and Alexander Lawson. Whether Martha managed the
household personally and supervised the care of some or all of these three
sets of children we cannot say. For her husband the various sets of children
remained distinct family units, as we shall see.

Samue] Griffith held several large tracts of farmland in the area
now occupied by the Aberdeen Proving Grounds, then known as part of
the “Spesutia Lower Hundred” division of the County. The principal hold-
ing, a farm in the region then known as Rumney Neck, had been pieced
together by Samuel from three tracts of inherited and purchased property
comprising perhaps about 586 acres all together.” A second holding was
the Swan Creek farm, thought to contain 515 acres “more or less” lying on
the east side of Swan Creek. (See Maps.) A third property, in “Taylors
Neck”, was situated in “Gunpowder Lower Hundred” (the southeastern
part of the county).

Samuel and Martha prospered in the 1780s. Tax records indicate
thirteen white inhabitants in their household in 1783, twenty-two slaves,
extensive livestock, and some silver and pewter” Samuel continued to
buy land in the 1780s, although he also sold 100 acres to his brother Luke.
The 1790 census reports thirteen white inhabitants still in the household
and an increase in the number of slaves to thirty-eight.” Then Samuel must

" Freenettah had diedt at age 31 on Septernber 5, 1777, four days after the burth of thes last child:
Peden. Havford Conntras, supar . 11 at 171, and Reamy, sppra n, 11 al %0 Samuel and Freenettah had several
olher children who did not survive into the period we focus on here.
' The 1787 tax List records 13 whute mhabitants i their household, three of whom were noted as
“Major” which probably meant “adult” So the househeld might then have included four of Samuel's children
by Freenettah, four of Martha's chaldren by Willam, and two of Martha and Samuel’s cloldren; see Marylmid Tax
Lt 1783, sigva n. @ See also Peden, r!nrfurd Comintinns sipran 11 at 171 Martha nated e names tour adult
children, a son and three daughters, by William Preshury in her will, dated Sept. 19, 1795 [proved Jan 12, 1308],
Rey. Wills, Harf. Co, Wills, MHR, (TSB.Ch 179
“Avarilla was bornom on December 1, 1779 and died on August 2, 1787 see Peden, Herford Cottiias,
s . 11 ar 171, and Reamy, supran. 1 at 96
HTeed of Conviryance from Samuel G. Griffith to Frances Garrettson, January 9, 1802, TTist. Soc
Harf Co., Arch., Deeds and Mortgages, "Ruminey Neck™ folder Muryghend Taa Lty 1783, supri n 9, see also
Peden, Harvrord Cozlias, stipran 11 al 371
Mavighand Tax Dist, 1783, sopran, 9.

I'eden, Harford Conntiais, sinpra, . 11 at 172
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Figure 2. Detail of the title section of a map drawn by engineer C.P. Hauducoeur to promote Havre de Grace

(oriented with north to right.) By permission, Historical Society of Harford County.
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Figure 3. Detail of Hauducoeur's map showing location of the Griffith’s farm on Swan Creek near what
is now the town of Aberdeen. By permission, Historical Sociefy of Harford County.



Number 81 “Women, Law, and the Pursuit of Happiness” 11

o

etail of modern 1941 map showing Swan Creck area of Harford County.
The former Griffith property is now part of Aberdeen Proving Ground. By permission,
Historical Society of Harford County.
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have gotten ill in the winter of 1793-17%4. He executed a will that January
and died the following March, 1794,

The Inheritance and the Makings of the Law Suit

Sarnuel left Martha the farm on Swan Creek, and his will gave
detailed instructions for the distribution of the rest of his real estate, per-
sonal property, and slaves—over 100 acres of real propertv in all and
about £3400 worth of personal estate. The largest share went to his eldest
son Samuel Goldsmith Griffith, who became the principal heir=  Other
than to Martha(w},” the remaining property real and personal, was left to
his other seven living children and to Frances Garrettson, the older chil-
dren’s aunt. ‘

The will was “proved” on June 24, 179%4.% Administration of the
estate was then taken over by the three executors/administrators and the
executrix/administratrix namely, Col. Alexander L. Smith, Dr. Elijah Davis,
Dr. Samuel Griffith, and Frances Garrettson.  Davis was a prominent
planter who lived nearby. Smith was a son in law of the deceased, and Dr.
Criffith was probably a cousin.  Miss Garrettson was an unmarried,
wealthy sister-in-law.

The goods and chattels (anything of value that was not real prop-
erty} were inventoried on July 21 and the greater part was assessed at
£3174:03:4 1/47 Forty-nine slaves accounted for just under half of this per-
soral net worth, The rest was household furnishings, farm equipment, live-

“will o Samuel Griffith, Reg Yalls, Tlarf Co. Wills, “VHE, MEm, OR 24,785 (A [ 2) 288, a1 2604
36t [ Note: Seme records spell the son™s middle neme “Gonldsmith 7

2T relp avond corfusion of identity bobworn Martha Criffith the widow, and her eldest stepr
daughter, Martha Grifith brech, tae former will be designated herealter es Marthajw), the latter as Martbafed
or by therr wurnames a» well, e Martha Grstith Smith o Martha Criffith Smath Tay

SProwing was geawrally done before the Register of Wills tor the County - Often the witnesses to the
makang and sy of the will were asked to venty their presenve arwl siguatunes, and this was toted in the
sacord, In Lhe present inddance, an addendom in the record by Abrahem larrett v 1HUI notes that any " Defect
for wani of the %igratore of the lake Kegister o the probete of the wall of Sam’] Grithth was this day cured
Conel agreeably tu the act of assenily passed »ovember Sesgion 18007; pra n. 22 al 260-261

4 fvenkory for Samned Gofith, Reg Wills, Harl, Co., Inventones, MHR, Milm | WK #832-2. 251, 260
267 and WK B33-1- 1 Aggurale notes :n the oW, Archer Collection, Historical 2ociely of Harlord County {(heres
wnatter, “Hist. Soc, Harf, Co.”), Archives {"Arch.”), suminarize the “first account”™ as having £3788.5 10 in assets,
mciuding memey receivable, and  £3253:4:4 dispersed tor funeral expenses. etc  Vary roughly, Grftith’s estale
crcitding the land weonld Be vecath about S500000 in 1999 adjusted for inflation based on the paraneters i Toh
I MeCusker, How mud 2 that o1 read u.‘ma(j_z? A Histarrcal Prive idex for Use as a Dedator of AMiier Violues oy
Fevmoony of the Lhnded States, reprinted trom the Proccedings of the American Antiquarian Society, vol.lols2,
(Wercester, Amerwan Antiquarian Sooety, 1992). Although dollars had been in use i colamal Maryland,
Maryland’s money ol aceeuntin the 1790s wa poungds, shillings, and pence (162205, is =13d{"d.” ror the Latir
“denanue” a commen Roman comn was the monetary svmbeol for pence]  This money, often reterred o a8
rent money,” had a Floming relationghip to Gnghsh Sterbing and other harder currencies such as Ponnsy
maney. In 1792 the Lnited SBtates government moved detutiyely to a doilar based fnancial system, and derom-
matione in dollars were increasingly vsed in Marvland therealter. At the end of the eighteenth century £1
Maryland money = %1 &6 tothcially, but net necessarily m facrl, the exchange vaiue of 21 Bobish Sterbng fuen-
ated around §4 5 LS
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stock, and supplies. An additional part of the inventory came from the
Swan Creek farm, itemizing 120 bushels of corn, 8 tons of hay, 10 bushels
of potatoes, 35 bushels of turnips, among other housechold Ebmgﬁ appar-
ently in storage; this added another £314 to the estate ™

The long list of inventoried items reflects the day-to-day texture of
early Harford County life in upper-class planter households. There was
some silverware, quite a bit of livestock, 9 turkeys, a dunghill, an extensive
list of farm implements, bar soap, 22 pounds of coffee, lump sugar, 1/4
pound of cinnamen and 1/3 pound of ginger, and dozens of skeins of
thread, lumber, a silver watch, a box of walers, a looking glass, a corksarew,
several gallons of sherry, port and whisky, a bit of cash, and an unexpired
lease on the "Marsh Plantation.”” The two cldest daughters, Martha{d}
and Frances, "witnessed” and signed the official inventory and appraisal
drawn up by the assessors, and it would later be copied into the county
records and sworn to by the parties involved.™

By a literal reading of the will, no part of the goods and chattels
inventoried n 1795 went to the forty-eight vear old widow Martha.
Despite very detailed instructions, Samuel failed to make clear whether he
intended to leave to her for use during the remaining years of her life, as
was customary, a share of this extensive accumulation of personal proper-
ty. The section of the will read, “T Desire my wife Martha Griffith Should
have the use and benefit of my Farm in Swan Creek during her widow-
hood provided She claims no thirds of my Lands in Rumney Neck.™
There was nothing more given to her,

Is this what Samuel had really wanted? No one seems, at first, to
have acted as if the provisions for Martha{w) created a problem.
Marthaiw} did not contest the will, something she had a clear right to do
{(within forty days) under Marvland law.® And it is unlikely that the legal
problem with the will was mmp?» the result of an oversight bv Samuel and
his legal advisers. Specific instructions were given for div iding up the
resicue of the personal estate after all of the specific bequests had been sat-

“Addendum to the inventory, o, at WK 837-1: 1

T Finaneial inderests such as future ncome from a leased property, debts to be coliceed, shame wra
business, v slock ceriihcates, were part of individual personal estabe upos death anid wers to be distributed o
the hews

ST errtory, sppra 25 at WE 332-2 267 and WE 83510
" Brgemone X3 At 24,

b gl }c;tux b az'gm*:l i cors on hebalf of the anecuior. that this failere preciuded

1 porty dwbrbutton tnder the e of the wnll Sriffeh v
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isfied, and Martha(w) was excluded from receiving any such residue.
Having left his widow a large prosperpus plantation Samuel may have felt
Martha{w} should abandon, in deference to his children, any further claims
to farm equipment, livestock, seed, and provisions, as well as to any of the
waork force of forty-nine slaves. She was, after all, a woman from a very
wealthy family, and she might have provisioned the Swan Creek farm out
of other assets. She had assets of her own, and three older children by the
prior marriage. It is quite plausible also, since he named others and nof
Martha{w) as guardians for all the children, that Samuel didn’t expect his
wife to outlive him by many years.”

Soon after the forty day period during which Martha{w) could
have had the will set aside the conflict began to emerge. Marthaiw) chal-
lenged the work of the executors with the help of legal adviser and neigh-
bor, Aquila Hall Jr. ® The suit was filed in Bel Air later that summer as peo-
ple in Harford Counfy looked toward the season’s harvests and contem-
plated its distribution. (Harford County’s Courthouse had only recently
been erected in Bel Air, over the objections of those who thought Havre de
Grace a better location.™ The contest between the two towns had been set-
tled by referendum in 1787, and the first term in the new Courthouse had
been in March of 1791,)

The Honerable Joshua Seney (Chief Judge) certified on August 1e,

794 that the parties in the Gritfith case were to appear in court the second
Monday of March 1795.% Adversarial proceedings began in earnest in
Martha(w}'s case about two months after the initial filing when she and her
sons-in-law, William Hall and George Patterson, filed a bond with the
Court in the amount of “three thousand pounds current money.”*  The
bond pledged them to honar any determination the Court might make in
the suit. John Lee Gibson, clerk of the court, then issued formally the writ
of replevin (over Seney’s signature), indicating that the plaintiff Martha(w)

" Samun 2k left care of his Childes generaly ko his oxecutors asd exsenirix, g0 he anbopried
that Martnaiw) wonlid not alone manage the fann, care for the children, and 56 forth

= There were several mien named Aquiln Hail o Hacford County during thes era. The mdividual
wentified here pracoced law m Ceal andd Harflord, and at the &tne of tus death i 183% owned $60 worth of
law books, 38 sfaves, and five tracts of land in Balimore county: sow Alan F Day, A Socd Shidy of Latoper< i
Maryland, 1660-17%5 MNew York and Lordor Sadand Publishing, fng, 3893, 377, The fact that Hall was
advising Martha o indwated by his appearence for her In the it and his witnessing of her own well oo
Seplernber 1795, seesupin 12

U Wright, Harfoed Meritzge, sopra 0, 7 at 68-69. The first counby courthiouse burned down on
Fetreuary 19 B3, and 4 oew one 1541 standing af West Courtland Bteot behweon later addisions) was quockly
feablt to replace ot wl at 70
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O 13, 1794, Higt 5e¢ Harf, o, Court Reconds (eremalter “CL Rec™), Me 20700550

“Suredy bond, daed Qct. T3, 1794 Hist, Sow, Hark Co, {0 Reo, Ms. 2020055,


http:mdividU.J1

Number 81 “Woien, Law, and the Pursuit of Happiness” 15

Figure 5. Replevin Bond, one of the initial documents filed in the Harford County
Court relative to the widow Martha Griffith's law suit. This bond pledges Martha's
backers to guarantee payment of any judgement against her (or other liability as a
result of the suit as determined by the court). By permission, Historical Society of
Harford County, Court Records.
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Griffith, widow of Samuel, had “found sufficient securities” (persons who
had pledged to be legally and financially liable on behalf of the plaintiff).
The defendants (executors Davis, Smith, [Dr] Griffith, and Garrettson)
waould have recetved official notice of the suit at this point.

Martha{w) and her attorneys chose an action of replevin for the
recovery of personal property, an old common law form of action. The
property was alleged to be “taken and unjustly detained” by the defen-
dants.®  According to the ancient procedural rules associated with this
type of common law suit, the writ also ordered the Sheriff to secure the
contested property from the defendants” possession and deliver it to the
plaintiff for her use while the final outcome of the case was pending.
Martha{w)'s original complaint to the court therefore contained an item-
ized list of the property in dispute, and once the bond was posted, Judge
Seney’s writ directed the sheriff to deliver all of the property described in
the complaint to Martha(w) at Swan Creek.

Pursuant to the Court’s order, Sheriff Ben Preston commissioned
Greenberry Dorsey, David Crane Jr, John Nelson, and Joseph Webster to
identify and appraise the property in question, which they did; the
appraised value was £582:10:0.7 The schedule of goods, noted as
“Replev'd & Del'd,” was then returned to the Court by the Sheriff. The
schedule refers to twelve slaves (identified by their first names, their sex,
and their ages), a carefully identified assortment of livestock, and various
pieces of farm equipment. The slaves were listed in a way that suggests
family groupings, and probably comprised two or more nuclear families
with various aged children as well as some single men and women. The
horses ranged in appraised value from nothing (the appraised value of
Brandy was scratched out) or £1 {for one “old BI'k {mare]”) to £25 for a
Sorel mare named Primrose. There were three milk cows and two pair of
oxen and one oid ox, an ox cart and vokes, several other cattle including a
large hornless steer, a white faced hﬁ*;fﬂr, a bull and five other steers, five
vearlings, and twenty-five head of sheep.

Martha{w) should have, at this point, been In possession not just
of 500+ acres™ and some buildings, but also a work force, and sufficient
harses, cattle, oxen, and sheep, and other assets needed to operate the farm.
The appearance on the list of family groupings of slaves and relatively

© 1 H. Baker, An livrodicstien fo Englet Lot Fostore, 3 ods thondon, Butlerwortha, 1990, 4414
© achedoie Flod sl ghertte renann s ovnea] wek of replevin feee sieer e 33 et Soc Hart
oy, £ Rec., \1‘7 RGN,
In Martha's e the fract was thought ta contam 515 acres “muode oF less ™ A resurvey of Swan
Creek, which had tormerly bean known as "T‘almu s Pornt” minated by Jostas W Dallam m 18148, determned
the hiact b contn 352 378 acres, Aljce Marker Collerdon, st Soc, arf, o, Awch, Dovds a"i Muorigagen,
“Bush River.”
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Figure 6. Writ of Replevin, one of the primary writs controlling the procedures in
Martha Griffith's law suit. This document orders the Sheriff to appraise and invento-
ry the property in dispute and deliver it to the plaintiff. By permission of the Historical
Society of Harford County, Court Records.
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worthless horses suggest that the legal battle was not simply about money,
but also about securing for her remaining life the surroundings and quali-
ty of life she had enjoved before Samuel died.

But the legal battle had just begun. The following june Sarmuel
Chase, Chief Judge of the General Court for the Western Shore, ordered by
writ of certiorari that the case be brought before his court on the second
Tuesday of October [1795].% Chase, of course, was a prominent Maryland
lawyer and politician with a national reputation. He had been a member
of the Continental Congress and signer of the Declaration of Independence.
He had been appointed Chief Justice for Baltimore County in 1788, before
his appointment as Chief Justice of the General Court® His career as the
controversial Federal judge had not yet begun, but apparently he was act-
ing already on his penchant for decisive intervention in controversial cases.
By the time Martha(s)'s case was finally heard before Maryland’s Court,
however, Chase had been appointed to the Supreme Court by President
Washington in time for that Court’s February 1796 term.”'

In Harford County, meanwhile, the Orphan's Court continued to
exercise its jurisdiction over the Griffith estate and the distribution of
assets.® The common law suit apparently did not stay the proceedings in
the Orphan’s Court, and as the common law suit moved toward the high-
er court, the contest between Martha and the executors continued inter-
mittently at the local level from March 1795 through March 1797, The
executors were ordered to answer a formal complaint from Martha at the
March 1795 term of the Orphan’s Court. As a result the Orphan’s Court at
its June 1795 term ordered the executors o distribute Martha's widow's
portion to her, but the executors continued to drag their feet. At the June
1796 term the Court again ordered that the executors settle, and also
ordered that they bear the costs {filing fees, recording fees, attorney fees,
etc.) of the action. The executors then prayed an appeal, which was grant-
ed.” But the executors lost at every turn, and were eventually cited for
contempt. Relations between Martha(w) and the executors may have
orown increasingly hostile; she filed another suit against them in March

7 it of pechgrard, Tune 23, 1795 in Griffith v Griffuh's Bx'rs; over Chase's sigratire, (ssuod by &
T [hunan ?"iakm‘}‘?g o ?‘Augsssz}; Hsst. Soc. Hard U O Bec, Me 20:20055.

H oo Dy, dawers s Merekand, supea v, 32 gl 235257,

» Jarmes Haw, Francis E Beweoe, Rosormond B, Belrie, R Samwel jett, Stormy Patror Thelafe of Sminuel
Chase (Baltimore Maryland Historical Socichy, 19800, 175,

= See Heney C. Peden, ', Astearts of B Orpliges Conrt Proceediings, | 7780800, (Washmunstes, Md.-
Farmly Line Puthl . 15900, 536

Fhbar 60, Al of this was a parallel proceeding buk separate From the common law suit The execu-
tor’s appeal fram the Orphan’s Court order shows up in the docket books of General Cowrt tor the May Term
1798 as having been filed i Decermber, 17596, and sbill being “continued” oy comsent; “Alevasler L Smiticet ol =
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Figure 7. Writ of Certiorari ordered by Sanuel Chase. This judicial order, over the sig-
nature of Samuel Chase (later a Justice of the Supreme Court of the United States),
required that the proceedings in Martha Griffith’s case be removed to Maryland’s
General Court for the Western Shore. By permission, Historical Society of Harford

County, Court Records.
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1797, This time it was an action of frespass alleging the misappropriation
of fifty wagon loads of hay, & harvest of apples, and a still*

Martha’s Legal Claims in Historical Perspective

Martha{w)} Griffith’s quest for a maximum Jegal share of her hus-
band’s estate placed her at the center of a vital question. Did a husband
have the right, or did he not, to will all of his personal estate away from his
wife?

Despite the historic rights of widows, legal developments in
England had worked against women In the seventeenth century with the
growing popularity of complex settlemonts by last will and testament.
Social reality in the colonies, however, helped to strengthen the claims of
widows to a portion of what we think of today as marital property. In many
colonies intestacy statutes entitled widows to one third or ene half the hus-
band's personal holdings (depending on whether there were children).

In colonial Marvland early statutes provided that the "Widew
shall succeed to the Goods & Chattells of the deceased intestate if there be
no Child and if there be but one Child the Widow shall succeed to the one
half & the Child to the other halff.] And if there be more than one Child the
widow shall succeed to one third and the children to the residue by equall
Shares.” The General Assembly passed many such acts throughout the
colonial pericd, and the General Court’s opinion in Griffith rehearsed the
history of this early Marviand legislation. The colonial codifications of
1704 and1715 and the post-Reveolutionary Maryland statue of 1794 made
similar provisions for a widow’s succession to one third part of the per-
sonal estate of her deceased husband if there were children.™

Despite this long history of legislation on the matter, the legal
complexity of Marthalw)'s case grew partly out of a lingering ambiguity in
Maryland law. Could a widow claim personal property both under 1)a spe-
cific bequest in the will and Zithe rule of her general right to a minimum
share? One solution to this ambiguity was to enforce rules requiring wid-
ows to elect one or the other within forty days that is, either accept the
bequest under the will or renounce the will and claim her shares. But this

* ¥yTiterf Arrest, Vigroh 20, 179, Plist Soc Harf Co s Or Ree, 35389, This snit apprars to bave
been dropped

=+ An Act lonching i 10 goods 0F Inlestate Porsons.” Assembly Froceedigs, (July-
eral, eds Archives of Maryland, 71 vods, (Taltimore:
Y72, L156-157.

Augast 1648210 ¥
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rule appears not o have been consistently enforced. Furthermore,
Marthaf{w) had peither renounced her hz},%%}zzﬁé s will nor taken any share
of persenal property under the will because nothing had been Jeft to her.
The Maryland statutes then in effect did not provide for this particular sit-
uation.

The fact that no Marviand law fit exactly the facts of this case
raised interesting problems from a lawyer’s point of view. What does a
court do when the law simply isn't clear? In post-Revolutionary Maryland
this question raised further issues, calling into play the relationship of the
ancient English common law to the law of the new, republican State of
Marvland.

An article intended to settle such matters had been included in the
State Constitution of 1776, Designed to guarantee continuity betweer pre-
and post-independence common law, Article 3 in Maryland's original
Declaration of Rights provided the following:

That the inhabitants of Maryland are enfitled to the common lww of
England, and the trial by i jury, according to He course of that bae, and
fo the benefit of such of the English statutes, as existed af the tie of their
firsf emigi ation, and which by experience have béen found applicable fo
thieir local and ofher circumstances, and of such others as haoe been since
wiade 1v Engliand, or Gregl-Britain, and haoe been introduced, wsed, ond
practiced by the courts of law or euity; and also to all acts of assembly
in force on 5?’26 first of Juae seventeen fnmdred and seventy-fous.”

But the ultimate source of legal authority remained a burning political
question in the 1790s. The issue had become part of the struggle between
the Federalists and the [effersonians because it pit the authority of British
legal tradition against the authority of the people through their elected
legislatures.*

In such a context it is not surprising that some of the most
impressive legal talent of the age became involved in the case. In the
early stages of the suit Philip Barton Key entered appearances in
Annapolis on Martha{w)'s behalf, while the executors employed Zebulon
Hollingsworth. The case was heard before the General Court’s three

* B Laorrsape Bl o Brpck A Paocbspd Dbt of B Proceodiogr of e Coprdslalomd
Coprgniig of the Provusce of Marglond, inko, Tdwerd G Papeniuse and Crogory A Stiversan
{Anpmpelis Stare ot Bary tnd, 1977
F The same vear Martha's st was st heard, e General Assormbly commissionesd in 1795 4
stugy by the Chancefior, Alexander Casbec Hanson, to underlake an oxtensive veport that wenzld
éa’x%zee the matter ence and for all This eeport nover materialized, but a new one was
CrHn iorwd and assigned to Chancelior Killy several years ]ater See folfrey K, Sawyer,
=Th v Legal Fatablishment o Comparative T'e wepective,” Tie Crevgas Journa o o
Somethryr Logal Fietory 22 1&2 (1999, 14-17
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highly respected judges—Chief Justice Robert Goldsborough, feremiah
Townley Chase (Samuel Chase’s cousin), and Gabriel Duvall. The
General Court, the succesaor to the Provinaal Court of the eolordal era,
now had two divisions, one for the Eastern and one for the Western
Shore, and was the most significant state court™ Before the General
Court in May 1798, the learned James Winchester presented the case for
Mrs. Griffith while the formidable Attorney General, Luther Martin, (for-
mer delegate to the Constitutional Convention in Philadelphia) argued
the other side.

The arguments at the October Term 1797 were lengthy, detailed,
and filled with references to English and Maryland law. The lawvers and
judges referenced an impressive array of treatises, cases, statutes, and cus-
toms. Martin argued the executors’ side of the case in strident terms, focus-
ing en a man'’s right to dispose freely of his persenal estate both while liv-
ing and by last will and testament. He suggested that Martha(w}'s failure
to Clmllé*nge the will originally during the specified forty day period of
time allowed by statute meant that Mrs. Gritfith had to accept what was
given her in the will with respect to her husband’s personal estate—noth-
ing.

Winchester reasoned from a different angle, arguing eloquently
that the widow’s portion was in fact a widow’s comunon law right to a rea-
sonable share of her husband’s goods, a right that had extended from
England 1o Maryland and remained viable under post-Revolutionary
Maryland law. A husband could not deprive his wife of her nght through
his will. Furthermore, Martha(w) was not precluded from claiming her
share of the personal estate simply because she accepted the devise in the
will of a share of the real estale.

William Pinkney also participated in the case. Pinkney was a par-
ticularly distinguished member of the bar, who had started his career in
Harford County and later become one of the Nation’s leading admiralty
lawyers.® Shortly after Bel Air became the seat of justice for the county,
Pinkney began his practice there. He was highly successful as a young
lawver and later as a diplomat, helped to recover Maryland's shares in the
Bank of England.

Absent from Maryland at the time of this trial on a mission to
Great Britain, Pinkney was nonetheless invited by the Court {along with
anather prominent attorney, William Cooke) to give an opinion in the case.
His brief was printed along with Cooke’s in the official report along with

* The Maryland Court of %pg}e uls misted, it ?md nuot yebomme K exercse its appellaie
authonty very aggressu ely. See Sawver, "Distrost.” id at 6-22
* [F Panikney's caveer. sae [ames B Chnsmer, “Harkerd Cpuniy's Rele i the Development of
the Bill of Rights,” Mavford Medorical Bullelin, 52 11972 Y269 51 3538,
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LUTHER MARTIN
Nat.1744—0h. 1628

Figure 8. Portrait of Luther Martin, first Attorney General for the State of
Maryland. Martin, who argued the executors’ side of the case, was after the
Revolution a heavy speculator in confiscated Loyalist lands and later an ardent
opponent of the newly centralized national government.



24 Harford Histovical Bulletin Summer 1999

the lawyer’s arguments and the Court's decision. Pinkney’s analysis, like
ihe others, offered a learned history of inheritance law in Maryland and
England. Pinkney summarized this history deftly. He then concluded
with one of the rhetorical flourishes for which he was tamous, that if
Martha(w) had no absolute right to the personal property she claimed, “it
would be difficult to show that [Maryland} had any law at allf!]""
Jeremiah Townley Chase wrote the Court’s deeply intelligent opin-
ion, which was joined by Goldsborough and Duvall, The opinion referred
succirctly to the 185151::1&?& history of widow's rights in Maryiand and the
issue of taking personal estate both by bequest and by commeon law right
to a third, Qhase sided with Winchester and Pin kl'i'c'v in conceptualizing
the widow's common law dght as a general one. Maryland law had rec-
ognized this right, and Marvland statutes had histonically modified the right
and the circumstances under which it applied. Chase E%\ﬁtzght that the
statutery history suggested that the wife “could take the bequest and the
third part alse, if such appeared to be the intenfion of the husband” in pre-
Revolutionary Maryiand. Chase agreed that the law had changed consid-
erably in England over the course of the colonial period, and also neted
that the practice in England had not been uniform from region to region.
He then cited a key section in William Blackstone’s Commentarice on the
Laws of Englend 1o support his main line of reasoning from common law
and Maryland statutes. American lawyers during this period often used
Blackstone’s authoritalive four-volume treatise, first published ini765 {and
many times reprinted in Great Britain and the United States) as a definitive
statement of the common law. In this case Chase found in Blackstone evi-
dence that widows rights were stronger in the early seventeenth century
than later, and that the earlier practice {in placeo at the time of the founding
of Marvland) should be considered the basis of Maryland’s common law.

It is Hie opinion of .. Blackstone Hhad the wife af comumont fo was enditled fo
i Hilrd ;;;zr{ of the personal estate; mird this opinion is supported by great and
respectabic aiitho rities, Bracton and mamy others; and Blackstene cites a deci-
sion of Finch, in i iome of Charies 1, (ohich was about the tine
[Maryland's] charter wwas Qrasted,) in support of this opinion... Upon the

whole, { am of opinion that the plaintiff in Hiis cases is entitled te one-third
part of the personal cstate of hey Jusband, after deducting the debts and
Suneral charges.”

This was the Court’s holding, and it was eventually affirmed on appeal in

% Cnfhtht v Grthth's Ex'rs, suprs o 1 ar LL7H
* i ab 123,
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WILLIAM PINKNEY

Figure 9. Portrait of William Pinkney, prominent lawyer and diplomat who began his
legal career in Bel Air in 1786. Pinkney, whose father lost his land because of his Tory
activities, was elected to Congress in 1790 and later served as Senator and LS.
Attorney General,
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the Maryland Court of Appeals (November term, 1801). A final distribu-
tion of Martha(w)'s share of the estate’s assets, £1162:9:6 172, was recorded
in the Orphan's Court on September 1, 1803.%

Martha had won. And when the decision in this case became
established precedent, Maryland women in general won, This happened
in a subsequent case in which an Anne Arundel County widow renounced
a will exeruted in 1817 that left her no part of her husband’s personal
estate, and in which Griffith v Griffitfi's Ex'rs was cited as having settled the
matter in Maryland law of the widow’s rights to her Gurds.™

Beyond the courtroom, Evfarzham 1 and the farm were also sue-
cesstul. Swan Creek remained in her possession until her death in
December 1807, She died close to her 62nd birthday possessed of a plan-
tation, a large work force of slaves, and considerable bank stock, During
thirteen vears of widowhood she had prospered personally and also
worked for the future of her young boys. The inventory of her personal
estate, sworn to on January 22, 1808, gave a total worth of $7776.71 and
contained references to fine furniture made of mahogany, wainut, and
cherry, fine table coverings, fancy bedding, framed prints, “worsted car-
pet,” and 50 forth.™  She spent her last years living in material surround-
ings comparable to her mother’s and father’s household and distinctly
more afftuent and stylish than that of her second husband.

When Martha{w} died, the Swan Creek farm was sold in January
1809 to John Leypold, father-in-law to Martha{w)'s step-son, Samuel G.
Griffith. Each of the eight Griffith children received an equal $1500 share
of the 512000 sale price, as their father had instructed ™

Applying the Logic of a “Strict Settlement”

The Criftith family story iflustrates several prominent features of
estate law during this era in America. In his last will and testament Samuel
was trying to do well by his family according to his own sense of justice
and right, and according to the repertoire of legal devices familiar fo him
and his legal advisers. His will was a lypical Marvland adaptation of
English “strict settflements.”™ The purpose of such complex settlements in
a last will and testament was fo orchesirate the distribution of family assels
according a detailed plan. A man or women with extensive assets could
pass the property along in particular ways to specific family members.
Under the care of executors and administrators acting as frustees, these

R Wi, Plard O, Distrduines, MHE, Mie COR 10595401 33
Honmes et al ve Clemenis 373 & 1480
¥ Rey Wills, Harl Co, Iventones, ML Mm  WE 8050450451,
= {uardian Account of Edwand Grafith for Alexander L Grildfith. Mav 7, 181, Reg. Wills , Harf. Ca,
Guardin Accpungs, MUR Milm  WE 837 1 end Bdwan!s fnventary ot the wards property on B 131830,
Al ab W IS5 7475 noting the B15800 cresdit frmm “Tobn Loypodds bond 7}
Bakor, Luglt Lol Hstory soprg v 36 02350
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legacies were administered much more efficiently and over extended peri-
ods of time until younger children came of age or until other family mem-
bers died. Such complex settlements replaced raw primogeniture because
they provided elaborate legal strategies empowering men to pass the bulk
of their estate to a single heir, if they so chose, while aveiding the injustice
of leaving everything to the eldest son, Atthe same time, such settlements
prolonged the spirit of primogeniture in Maryland by overcoming statutes
of intestacy that required equal division among the children.

At the time of Samuel Griffith’s illness and death in 1794 seven of
his eight children lived in his household. His oldest son and principal heir
was still a minor. Martha(d), the eldest, then twenty-three, had married
and left home. Her husband, Col. Smith, already mentioned above as one
of the executors of Samuel’s will, owned a plantation near the Griffiths’
Swan Creek Farm. Griffith noted in his will that a significant marriage gift
had already been given to Martha(d), so she had already been partly pro-
vided for. Neither the second daughter, Frances (now twenty-one years
old), nor the third, Sarah (nineteen), had vet married. According to the con-
ventions of the day, by which young women in their latc teens were
betieved to make the most desirable wives, Frances was already somewhat
old to begin looking for a husband ™ Samuel Goldsmith Griffith (the prin-
cipal heir} was seventeen, and his half brothers were thirteen, eleven,
seven, and three vears of age.

Griffith's last will and testament aimed to distribute assets accord-
ing to the sodial reality of this family structure, but also according to his
personal values. Tn his mind his first born son was fo take his father’s place
as a Harford County planter. Additionally, the needs or claims of his older
children (by his first wife), even though they were female, outweighed
those of younger children (by his second wife). In addition to the ages of
the children, the sources of the family’s wealth may have affected his cal-
culations, that is, wealth that had come into the family through the first
marriage (particularly land or slaves) might morally be thought to belong
to the children of that marriage. Martha(w), the second wife, may or may
nothave shared these views, but she certainly acted quickly upon the death
of Samuel to counter its effects, as will be seen below.

Ultimately the records suggest a major cleavage of the family into
a Garrettson /Smith/Griffith faction and a Hall/ Presbury /Gariffith faction.
The first evidence of this comes in the will itself. Samuel appointed as his

= Lynne A, Thbeshardt, “Pagsion and Propriety Tidowater Maeriages i the Colanzal Chesapenke.”
Mg §hsoraal Magawme, 93 (Fall 1998), 325347 wihng wtrong evilenee of svtablihed men wokmg weves m
thenr fate teens); the a Tage age ab marriage in thiv particular wgiov in the late cighleenth CORtry W 19; see
Ruth ann Bocker, "Spesutio Tower T Tundred, 1681-1779: & Study of & Colwnal Maryland Parish,” M.A. Thexis,

Univ of Magyland, 1974, p 46,
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administrators /executors, “my trusty and worthy friends Col. Alexander
L. Smith[,] Doct'r Elijah Dav 1<;[ { Doct'r Sam'l Griffith Executors and my
beloved Sister In Law Frances Garrettson Executrix of this my last will and
Testam. in whom 1 have put the most Sacred of trusts in hopes they will
take care of my Children until they Should be able to take care of them-
selves.”™  As noted above, the three men were prominent neighbors,
including a son-in-law, a close family friend, and a relative. TPrances
Garrettson was his first wife’s sister. Samuel could have placed his wife in
this role, but instead chose others to look after his estate and his children.
Although not uncommon in early Marviand for a wife ko be named as the
administratrix/executrix, it became less common by the time of the
Revolution” It was rare for any other woman to be so named. Garreltson,
a wealthy and single woman, remained important to her nieces and
nephew over the next decades, not only as part of their social circle, but
also helping them lo manage their financial affairs.

Griffith’s plan was to distribute the bulk of his real estate and a
large share of his personal property 1o his cldest son. But all of the children
would get a share of the personal estate. And since there were several
tracts of real estate involved, Griffith could also afford to distribute inter-
ests in land to his daughters as well. The logic of all this was not unusual,
but the favoritisny towards the daughters and the sister-in-law by the first
marriage over the sons by the second is noteworthy. Through the devices
of the complex settlernent, daughters were often provided with land, cash
or future earmings or proceeds from of other assets that could be used as
marriage inducements or as future financial support. Grittith gave all three
daughters future joint ownership of 300 acre Tapley Neck as well as a share
of proceeds from other real estate in addilion to a large share of personal
estate. In fact, to secure even more definitively the fortunes of his daugh-
ters, Griffith included in the will a clause that would have largely disin-
herited the eldest son were he to contest the gift of land o his sisters.”

Guiffith's sons by Marthalw} received no real estate directly, only a

“Hupea 22 at 2635

it inay have even been the noem m soventoenthecembury Maryland foc the wike o be named as the
excrubnx, The practice bevarme loss (oononots uy the aighteenth centorg, see Cary, weritance iy the Colonial
Chesapenie’ i Wainen By Hhe Age of e Aprerfosn Revalution, supor i foag 190, e vancial as well as tapul
sl relations with the Garreitsons is suppestod By the fact that Baousd haed s the casly 1780 held a conaidersble
estater il guardian of e “hers Carrettson™: e ydamd ee Ligf, 1783, supran 8

» Cumnddstioned brguests with o punibive esfoercoment clause were cumenes I coraplos seitlentents
Thadr purpose was, gwem}w to imstire (bat the more tavored hews would bonos i‘ﬁeﬁgﬁsts b the othors The
chanse i the will wead “Secondiy 1 give and Hequeath to my Son Samuel Gouldwrith Liriffith ol my land hang
in Rusrnu Mewl provided when ke Shall arvive at the wears of hwenty une he will sonvey to his thses Sistors
Martha Sruth, wike of Col Alexandes Lawson Smith, Erénces Griffith sivd Sarah Gr¥ish, 2 Teact of bad g in
Cunpowder neck known by the naine of T'lpl-;‘y neck],] ut 1n case hie Shoutd refuse to Cenvey thir Same | then
grve ey three Disughters os befnre menboned ail my land in Ramres neck o them or the Surviverss of fem
o be Brually Diveded™ anpran, 22 21 2538
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cash settlement of £100 each {less than one thirtieth of their father’s per-
sonal estatel}, plus the one eighth interest in the proceeds from the sale of
the Swan Creek farm upon the death of their mother. Samuel Goldsmith
Griffith {the only son by the first marriage, it will be remembered}, received
all of the Rumney neck property, substantial household and kitchen fur-
nishings of the main residence, a very extensive collection of farming
equipment and craftsman’s implements, thirty-two head of livestock
(cows, sheep, hogs), a large quantity of wheat and com for consumption
and seeding crops. Moreover, he received through explicit bequests most
of his father’s personal effects (his clothes, silver watch, Jargest gun, and
sword} and a specially designated group of slaves in addition to the others
he would inherit as part of his residual share.

The precise provisions for the daughters were intricate. Upon
receiving his inheritance at twenty-one vears of age Samuel was to convey
to his three sisters equal shares of the family’s third major tract of land
(Tapley Neck}).® Martha{d}'s two sisters would receive legacies equal in
value to what she had already received when she left home to marry Col.
Smith betore any general division of the personal property. All three
daughters would also receive an equal share of the £100 devised to any of
their half brothers, Martha(w)'s boys, should any of themn die betore age 21,
(A similar provision was made for the proceeds from the sale of the Swan
Creek farm upon Martha{wY's death, Although divided equaily among
each of the eight children, the share of any of the vounger four, should he
die before inheriting, was to be divided equally among the older four, not
among af the remaining children). And finally the three daughters were
to receive an equal share of aff of the personal property remaining and not
otherwise devised after any debts and funeral charges were paid. This last
clause, as we have seen, conflicted directly with Martha{wY's right to her
thirds.

The other bequest in the will was to Frances Garrettson, the
executrix and “beloved” sister-in-law. She received a pair of horses and a
coach {or $300 dollars to purchase them), a “genteel suit of mourning” and
a “mourning ring.” This dramatic and extravagant bequest, when com-
bined with the other provisions in the will, is suggestive of both emotional
and financial entanglements,

N Tre property was duly conveyed, amd Samuel's sskors sold #wm August 1800, presumably 1o
riuse gash, 00 property descoipbon o an indenture fova Bithingslen to Bradford for the same property, March
24, 1824, Hlaef Coo Hist. Soc, Arch, Dieeds and Mortgages, “Tapley Neck”
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Women Making the Best of It

How did Sainuel Griffith’s sons and daughters actually fare as a
result of his scheme? Wills and deeds—with their official purposes and
formulaic phrases reveal only the sparsest clues about the personal and
emotional lives of people, [()rtunately the eighteenth and nineteenth cen-
turies were ages of letter writing, Correspondence from the mid to later
1790s and the early 1800s among several of the family members survives in
the Jay Papers at the Marviand Historical Society Martha(d) Smith {often
called “Patty™) is the recipient of most of the letters in this collection.
Frances and Sarah {often called “SBally” in the correspondence) regularly
wrote to their sister, who managed her husbands household on Swan
Creek, even before his death in 1800 since he was apparently frequently
absent. The Griffith/Garretison/Smith side of the family spent consider-
able Hme in Alexandria during this period because Samuel had set up his
household and shipping business there. They convened at Swan Creek for
the summer months— fleeing the stifling sumuner cdimate of Alexandria
and renewing their family ties. The letters discuss personal matters and
demestic concerns, but also financial matters that impacted their sense of
security and happiness.

Samuel G. Griffith, the principal heir to the Harford County farm-
ing enterprise, did not {as his father surely wanted) assume personal direc-
fion of the Rumney Neck plantation® Instead, he sold the farm in January
of 1802 to his former guardian and aunt (Frances Garrettson) for the
impressive sum of 510,000 Samuel then moved to Alexandria, a boom
town neater the Nation’s new Capital, and used the proceeds from the
farm to set himsell up i business, His sisters Frances and Sarah joined his
household, and remained members of it for some Hme About 1807 Samuel
again inherited the Rumney Neck farm when his aunt died without any
descendants.™

Sarmnuel married Mary Leypold, and the couple eventually took up
residence in Baltimore. With what mayv have been state of the art financ-
ing, Mary’s father purchased the Griffith family’s Swan Creek and Rumney

*Jav Family Papers, Maryland Histonieal Snciety (heremailor "MHS" Ms 1823 Unforiinatkely, a
sipraficant portion of the correspondence iv undated or wicomphetely datsd

* Tt will be recalled that bie was & mueaor whens hus taer died, and hos step mother’s suit was rifl
peading when he turned twenty-one.

* Thrs very Jarge sum of mosey was apparently under Frances's sole control. The eriginal mden:
ture from Samued G Griffth o Frances Gorrettson, rovorded Fob 17, 1803, containg 2 section in which Samoel
Tay sighs for the reocipt of $10.000 in fulf, “the conssdoration money” Hast, Sox, Harl, Co, Arch . Dueds and
Maortgagaa, “Rumney Meck™ Jetder,

* Samaiel came int passession A third time when Jobn Leypold duwd, indenture fopy of Zaitismuore
Cnunty record envolied Precomber 19, 1815 Hist %o Hart, Uo., Arch., Deeds andMaoripages, "?um“q' Mok 7
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Figure 10. Linen spun from Harford County flax by Martha Griffith Smith (later
Jay) illustrating one of Martha Griffith’s many skills and echoing a letter fo Martha
from her sister Frances extant in the Jay Papers at the Maryland Historical Society.
Courtesy, private collection.

Neck plantations using bank supplied mortgage money. But Mr. Leypold
soon fell ill and died in 1810. About the same time Frances and Sarah left
Samuel’s household to marry, and after that Samuel’s relationship to his
sisters is more difficult to track.

The correspondence among Samuel's sisters from these years
shows Martha(d) Griffith Smith a meticulous, pragmatic, and busy woman
keeping track of and assisting her family. She helped Frances and Sally col-
lect money from their Harford County interests and served as their banker
to some extent. She also took an interest in raising chickens properly and
once sent her sisters home-spun cotton or linen she had crafted herself. An
example of her craftsmanship survives to this day.

Married with young children and apparently running the planta-
tion, Martha(d) did not always see her independence as a blessing. She
once complained in emotional terms to her husband of his absences. Prior
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to another period of absence (to Calvert County) Col. Smith wrote back
affectionately, and perhaps also a bit patronizingly, promising to return in
a few days, if possible. “T am very impatient indeed to return to Harford
again to embrace her whe is as dear to me as my own life. . . there never
was a lover more impatient to return to the armes of a Mistress than 1 am
to return to you and believe me . .. my dear girl ™

Col. Smith died probably anexpectedly and without having exe-
cuted a will in January1802, leaving her the executrix of his estate and
guardian of their three children, Samuel Griffith Smith {age 7), Frenettah
Smith (age 4), and Maria Smith (age 3). There was not a great deal of per-
sonal estate, and she moved quickly to sell off some assets to raise money
for herself and the children.® The Orphan's court required two established
men of the community, her brother and Elijah Davis, to serve as her secu-
rities for the administration of the estate and guardianship of the children®
But it was she who managed the family’s affairs over the next decade, Al-
ing guardian accounts and administration accounts, arranging for the sale
of some family assets, ordering lumber and plaster of Paris, contracting
with local businessmen, for example, and trying to arrange for schooling
for her son.™

Frances Griftith saw herself as a woman of society and was
inclined to dramatic gestures. She complained to her sister in one letter
about the dullness of Alexandria compared to Georgetown (the former “all
gate ty," the latter “as dull as vou can imagine™), and noted that while there
was “talk of 4 pmcesswn on Gereral Washington’s birthday” she was dis-
appointed because “as it comes on Sunday | suppose the best part of the
entertainment will be lost in the ball at night.”” Brief comments in the
same letter concerning Martha(dys new baby have the tone of an after-
thought. She lamented in one particularly revealing letter that a splendid
social season was about to begin in Alexandria, but that she probably
wouldn’t be able to participate much because of her financial {arcd, implic-
ithy, marital} circumstances.

“Cal, Alexander Lawson Sroth to "Patty ™ P ¥attha Smith], Nov 3, 1792, Jay Fapors M1T3, Ma. 18728

* Inventory of the Estate of Alexander Lawson Smuth, February 8, 1802 Reg Yills, [}(\rt Co,, MEHR,
Inventeries, Mo, WK 83%2 219.232, valued at 5 M17,03. Permtavdion s sell as perschedule, at £ 213+ 2"-'1 She
faser liled il arenation with Orphaars Court on Ot @, T804 that he hadd 2ncadditional $300 on haod, 1, WK
331-1: G4, Furlher praceedmgy ave noted in the Records of thy Orphan’s Court, 1d, CR422-10 54, 212,

* Exitry o Augast 1 1802, Reg Witk Heel Co, MHR, Orphan’s Coort Minutes, 1800- 1882, £ 74

" Letter from Eifjah Davis to Martha {"Dear Patty™] Smith, May 39 1806, regarding the besl way (o
have her tan of plaster shipped: note om Mrs. Martha $aith fo Amcs OQsboun for 1600 et of “pepular plank”
26 per hiundred®; Tetter frum [ Hall to Martha Smidh, April 29, 1811, about the fee for Martha's son, Samuel,
to attend bis schaof {and other Lrancial matiors), Jay Papery, MHS, Ms 1824

" Framess Griffith ko Martha Sneth, Feb. 16 Ino vear given, but letter indivates Cof 3mith, who
dgd inearty 1802, 1w sull abvel, id
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Alexandria will be vevy gay this winter bul 1 fear g very small part
of it will be niine o partake of. The play Tcan’t afford to attend. The [pub-
lic} Assemblys 1 have litile or 1o prospect of attending & private parties |
suppose will admit me sometimes if | behave myself — | want very nmuch
to kmow how peoples pulse beats about mongy Matters. | fear by e time
they are ready to pay [ shall be quite ready to receive for mrine begins fo run
fow

The same letter refers with felling understatement 1o the emotional ten-
sions that will beset the family during the approaching Christmas season.

In this and other letters Frances described her excitement about
investing in bank stock, and promised to help her sister purchase some,
either when shares became available after a dividend was paid in one case,
or wher the price became more attractive againin another” She kneyw that
some bank stock was more attractive than other issues because of the way
the profits were divided. She and Sarah frequently felt themselves in need
of money and reminded Martha{d) of this, with subtle and not-so-subtle
hints for assistance.” Martha(d) must have also lent them money, as the
following passage from Frances reveals.

Diwonld not wish te give you e frouble to wisit on My, Dallam. ]
think it to [sic] long a ride for you as the Doctr. has proyised te cnlf on himl
Showld he not Tl try rather than fmpase too much o you to make what
maney you have been kind enough te procuse for me serpe ynbll August
when [ hope to see you all [isr Harford Cowunty.] Your statensent 15 very cor-
rect, Tl send the ballance up by Aunt Franny™

The sense of style, perhaps extravagance, of Frances and Sarah is
revealed in a number of passages in these letters, Mary (Mrs. Samuel G.
Griffith} once wrote in polite but trangparently complaining tones, that she
could not locate anvwhere in Balobmore the sort of “Bonnet” Sarah request-

T Frances Griffith to Martha Smeth Tundated, Ietder Didicates Coi. Smuth o okl ahive], @

™ Frances Griffith to Margha Smooth Turdated L of 5 and @dens from Alesandsia, Dec, 200 1801, 44,

Y Sarah forilliti to Martha Smeth, Apral 1 ines voar], 7 ansidy has loft any Money for me at your
House pleage serul st by Sama’l1”, of Tn anather example, Franges Coriffith to Martha Smuth, Cob. 18, 176, “Skouid
Amos call as b setugns from Philedeiphia 3wl be charley 1o find mo o 1ile morey of any person hay Lhonghl
proper Lo letve any af youc house or the Doctors for mel | Sally talky in the same stile teoney money{sel”

" Frasces Griffith f0 Martha Smith {undated],
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ed be purchased for her, but was able to find a plainer one that she felt
would do™ Frances wrote her sister on another occasion, ‘our town 1§
unusu&il\, gay this winter. We have had two assemblys, . .. At [the sec-
ond] we had the telicity of capering a little with the fine folks & 1 have the
pleasure to tell you for sure you will be pleased to hear your sisters if not
more had on as handsome dresses as any in the Ballroom.”™

The correspondence dries up around the end of the first decade of
the nineteenth cendury. Frances and Sarah found husbands. Frances roar-
ried Alexander M. Cain {or MCain) of Baltimore, but not before she pur-
chased m her own name in January 1809 a 165 acre farm for S1732.50 near
the other family holdings arcund Swan Creek”™  The funds almost cer-
tainty carne from her share of the proceeds from the sale of the Swan Creek
farm on which her stepmother, Martha(w}, had lived.

Aunt Franny remained connected to the family, but was often
mentioned as being away from Alexandria, or meeting up with them in
Harford County. Frarmy armng{}d for Sarah Griftith to accompany her and
her lady friends on one of her trips. Sarah found the group of “ladies . .
some times agreeable and sometimes otherwise.”™  She added “{t|he
waters al Yourk [Pennsylvara] 1 found very usefull if 1 could of staid there
corafortable should of liked it very much but the company and amusement
were not tomy mind.” Remarks later in the sarne letter suggest that Sarah
had bouts of depression during which she liked to avoid joining the con-
versation and instcad preferred to stay in her reom thinking about better
places and better imes—especially country life and the extended family
setting in Harford County, “1 cannot account for it my dear sister but feel
very low spirited this morning an ill foreboding of something[:] it is alone
in iy Roome only that | have the best satistaction{;] there Lindulge mysclt
in thinking of you all.”™  Sarah Griffith married Samuel Jay ot Havre de
Grave on April 6, 1810, but died shortly thereafter, most likely in child-
birth.”

The legal remains of the sale of the Swan Creek farm tell much of
the story of the tamily’s changing structure in the second and third decade
of the centurv.™ In January 1809 cight Griffith siblings were living when

Mary Creffids b, Serrucl Gouldemith Gefhtbs to Martha Sreach duley 51850 o

T Fromars Cafith o Marire Brath, aarpa n, £

T Convevance from Peier flosfman to Franees Griftith, Havford County Land Beconds, U D 175
[ty ramecripiian by Nan Jay Barchowsky]

" arah Uit W Mortha Stk feom Adevamdria Auguse o fngs yoarl: Tay Papers, MHS, Ms Tdli,

“d

Y Rarg st of Parosd County M:.rr’a;;e Livenees, WHE, M, WK 528 thisked i‘ifg year].

~Indenture, Alesander M Cart, Fromoes Kaniith] O, Martha [Gritfith] fay, Bdweard Criffith and
ke Cendlithy, convey Swan { reck o Mary Jriflith, March 17, 3837, Alwee Macker Collecion, Hist Soc. Hark Co.,
Ands, DPreeds aml wgree e 327 doed recibes Hhie terens of e [N dewd, and a draft of o sineday deed
iy FRA0 aleo stive s, B 1
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Figure 11. Shipping crate (for importing tea) addressed to Samuel G. Griffith, Esq,
from the commercial ventures of Samuel Goldsmith Griffith who abandoned rural life
in Harford County around 1800 for the life of a merchant in Alexandria and
Baltimore.(Photo shows crate on its side.) Courtesy, private collection.

they sold their interests in Martha(w)’s Swan Creek farm to John Leypold.
For reasons that remain unclear, a proper conveyance could not be execut-
ed. In 1827 when a final deed was drawn up, only four of the eight were
still living. Two of the four younger brothers, John Hall and Alexander
Lawson had died. The latter are described in this deed, along with Sarah,
as dying “intestate.” Although this was not exactly true with respect to the
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men, who both left wills, none of the three had left any living descendants.
Levpold had also died, so the heirs re-conveyed the property to his daugh-
ter, Mary Griffith, who was by then Samuel Goldsmith Griffith’s widow
fand thus their sister-in-law).® Rather ironically, when title devolved to
Mary Griffith, the Swan Creek farm once again helped to support a
widow's financial independence more than thirty years after it had been
left to Marthat(w) ther late mother in law} for life as her widow's portion.

Conclusions: Women, Property Law, and the Pursuit of
Happiness

The story of this family continues, however we stop at this point
to evaluate the success of the sans and daughters of Samuel Griffith in the
thirty vears following his death. The principal heir had not maintained his
father’s stature in the local community. He parfayed much of his inheri-
tance into merchant capital instead and apparently did well for himself and
his family. The 182¢ census officials found him living in Baltimore in a
house in the 9" ward consisting of five white inhabitants and five “free
Negroes.™  While Samuel had retained major financial interssts in
Harford County real estate, the in-county portion of his personal assets
were meager at the time of his death. When in 1821 his half-brother, Luke,
auctioned the personal property in Harford with the permission of the
Orphan’s Court, only the small sum of $1395.66 resulted. By the time
debts and judgments were paid nothing was left® Fortunately, other por-
fions of the family holdings must have remained debt free, probably due
both to the careful structuring of family assets and separate ownership of
property by Samuel’s wife. The widow Mary Griffith was listed in the
1831 Harford County tax assessment as a very wealthy woman, and she
died in 1835 with $18,057.85 in personal property assets alone™

As for Samuel’s younger half-brothers, two had died several years
before him in April of 1815, leaving very modest personal estates, no
bequests of real estate, and no descendants. John Hall Griffith may have
been a seaman. He possessed two mariner’s books, a broken quadrant,
and “Sundries Saved from the wreck of the Schooner Ranger” at the time
of his death. He left the bulk of his personal property to George Presbury

S

~Padaral Consuas of 1831 for Marvland, Hartord Connty, MES, Mém, | 3%,

* Mury renooneed adminisirabom of the estate in tavos of Luke Gelffith i January, 1821; Rep. Wills,
ilarf €0, Orphans Court Procoedmgs, MBR, Mfm, CR422-1.{A] 2} 467,495 By the hme the logal fees were
pard and the odgmemts setted, there was nothang lell i the eslate; Admensrahon Accounts, & WK 8100
M2, N6,

* 53T Tax it f Harford Coionty Marddond, itanscubed by Jorn Hadan Liverey (Harford Co
Gencalogical Sngiety Speral Pubheation N 16, 19053, 16, For the sstate myventory, see December 29,1643, Reg.
Witls, Hasrt O Toventores, MEIR, Milm, WK S35 115110
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(probably his half-brother by his mother’s first marriage) including his
“Scheoner and Eighty dollars worth of wood” and “likewise all the articles
& utensils of husbandry that belonged to me.” He distribruted the rest of
his effects t¢ friends and to his brothers. Alexander Lawson Griffith lived
even more modestly. According to the terms of his will he possessed little
of value other than slaves (which he had probably inherited) and a horse
that was not completely paid for™ He devised everything to his brothers.
Luke and Edward fared better. Luke retained interests in Harford County,
but within a few years of the death of his brothers, moved his household
west to Virginia. Only Edward became an established gentleman in
Harford County.

As for the women, these widows and heiresses of wealthy planters
had a much better life than most of the population, and better chances for
happiness in some ways than many men, even their vounger brothers.
Over the course of two generations, the Garrettson sisters {(Frances and
Freenettah), Martha Hali Presbury Griffith, and Martha Griffith Smith Jay
and her sisters all ived privileged lives. Two years after the death of ber
sister Sarah, Martha{d) married on March 7, 1812 widower Samuel jay,
who in addition to being her brother in law, had been financially involved
with the family for over a decade. Samuel Jay lived about six more vears
leaving Mrs. Martha(d} fav widowed again with a sizeable estate to man-
age and 20 month oid John.

But fortunate birth and the fortunes of marriage were not the
whole story here. These women did not take for granted their financial
security or personal happiness, and they achieved much on their own.

Both Marthas skillfully managed the assets they controlied, invest-
ing in their own names in land and in bank stock. Martha(w} was quick ko
resort to law suits as well as to complicated real estate transactions in order
to protect both in her own interests and those of her children. Following
Samnuel Griftith's death, for example, she quickly purchased in her own
name twe hundred acres of her father’s old estate (Cranberry Halll, which
she must have wanted specifically for the purpose of passing it on to the
bovs when they grew older, since they had been excluded from the real
estate in their father’s will* Her own will, drawn up in September 1795
shortly after this purchase, gave instructions that all of her estate real and

TRGL of John Hall Grffith, Roeg. Wills, Harf, Co., Wills, MBI, Miim WE 827-Z3 (A Pk 44; the invene
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Martha's chaldren, April 21, 1812, Ioilosang some difficulties involving the tites Flarf Cu |, Jand Records, MHR,
Milrm, Lib “8 £ 370,
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personal go to the support of her four sons by her second marriage.™ She
excluded both her children by her first marriage {(whom the will mentions
as older and weil provided for) and her Griffith stepson and stepdaughters.
The language of the will pleaded in emotional terms to the administra-
tors /executors/ guardians to see to the boys” upbringing and education
and to use all of her assets for that purpose. She obviously felt deeply the
need to make up as best she could for what the boys’ father did not (or
could not} leave them. Later, after the marriage of her son Edward and
early death of his young wife Codelia, she pursued a complicated strategy
to secure Fdward’s nght*e to various portions Cranberry and its profits™

Martha{d) handled adeptly the cstates of Col. Smith and Samuel
Jay, both in her owninterests and those of her children, She often directed
her ewn financiat atfairs borrowing and lending money, politely putting off
creditors, and strategically accumulating real estate” Her second hus-
band’s estate contained “elegant” furnishings, “Venetian” carpets and fine
turniture, a very large number of books of all kinds, including travel
books, reference works, and up-to-date books on Maryland law such as
Chancellor Kilty's Lows of Maryland.” The estate was also plagued with lit-
igation and many other problems of administration, but she managed to
preserve its value™  She reared her son to majority and, almost twenty
years after she had been widowed for the second time, helped set up John
Jay in business and farming.

The younger (mffllh sisters had also flourished. Their inheri-
tances from their father, even it tied up in litigation for a number of vears,
nevertheless gave them some independence and security, Frances, as we
have seen, had a mind of her own, enjoved life and social occasions, and
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took an interest in banking and investing. At some point in her late twen-
ties and early thirties, she may have enjoyed a life of genuinc personal and
financial indeprendence similar to that of her namesake and aunt, Frances
Garrettson. We can weigh carefully in the belance, however, the evident
constraints on her freedom. While in her twenties she depended heavily
on the suppart of her brother’s and married sister’s households. And as
thetr correspondence reveals, she and her sister Sarah both found painful
some aspects their dependent status while hving with their brother.

These life stories reflect a complex image of upper-class women in
early Harford County pursuing life’s pleasures and working for financial
security with intelligence and energy. Yes, they gossiped, entertained,
raised children, worried about their families, and took pride in their dress-
es. They also invested in bank stock, managed farms and households,
accumulated real estate, went on vacations with lady friends sometimes,
and when necessary, used the courts to press their property rights,



